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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to the hearing of the Committee on Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Services. Today, we will be

          5  revisiting a topic we considered in October, the

          6  need to modernize the City's Fire Prevention Code,

          7  as well as several bills that would amend the Fire

          8  Code.

          9                 As I noted at our last hearing on

         10  this topic, the Fire Prevention Code was first

         11  enacted in 1918, 85 years ago.  And much of today's

         12  code dates to its 1937 Revision.  Since then the

         13  Fire Code has only undergone sporadic revision, and

         14  has not been systemically reviewed and revised.

         15                 According to an analysis by Council

         16  staff, approximately 75 percent of the code's

         17  provisions are unchanged since 1970, 60 percent are

         18  unchanged since 1960, 40 percent are unchanged since

         19  1937.  Provisions of the Code still regulate archaic

         20  activities including kite flying around the City's

         21  former Fire Alarm Telegraph System.  And two

         22  sections of the Code regulate the behavior of wagons

         23  and barrels.

         24                 At our October hearing,

         25  representatives from the US Chemical Safety and
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          2  Hazard Investigation Board, an independent federal

          3  body, described sections of the Fire Code as

          4  somewhat antiquated.

          5                 Today, we will be voting on two

          6  bills, Intro. 414 and 415, and hearing testimony on

          7  one bill, Intro. 611, all of which highlights some

          8  of the shortcomings of the Fire Prevention Code.

          9                 Intro. 414, introduced by the Mayor,

         10  would repeal the section of the Fire Code regulating

         11  dry cleaning and dry dying establishments.  This

         12  1937 section was made redundant by stricter

         13  provisions in the Building Code, and removing it is

         14  a matter of housekeeping.  The relevant provisions

         15  in the Building Code, however, were enacted in 1968.

         16    It has taken us 35 years to address this

         17  redundancy.

         18                 Intro. 415, also introduced by the

         19  Mayor, is a technical amendment to the Fire Code

         20  that increases the quantity of liquefied carbon

         21  dioxide that can be stored in containers.

         22                 Finally, we will be hearing testimony

         23  on Intro. 611, which would require that if the City

         24  does not adopt a model Fire Code, the Fire

         25  Department must review the Fire Code every five
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          2  years and report to the Council and Mayor with

          3  assurances that the Code adequately addresses modern

          4  fire hazards, or with proposals for revisions.  With

          5  this bill, the City would be ensured of always

          6  having modern fire regulations within one text.

          7                 As I have done previously, however, I

          8  once again call on the Administration to support the

          9  adoption of a model Fire Code, and I hope to hear

         10  such a commitment from the Fire Department today.  I

         11  look forward to discussing these and other issues.

         12                 And I am joined today by Council

         13  Member Tony Avella, a member of this Committee from

         14  Queens.

         15                 And it is my understanding that we

         16  will be hearing from the New York City Fire

         17  Department today, as well as the State Department of

         18  State, and the US Chemical Safety Board.

         19                 Having said that, I would like to

         20  welcome you, gentlemen, and ask that you state your

         21  names, affiliations, and begin your testimony.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 CHIEF DAWE:  Good morning, Madam

         24  Chair.  My name is Stanley Dawe.  I am the Chief of

         25  Fire Prevention for the New York City Fire
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          2  Department.

          3                 MR. BAZEL:  Julian Bazel, Counsel to

          4  the Fire Department.

          5                 MR. HANSEN:  James Hansen, Director

          6  of Engineering, Fire Department.

          7                 CHIEF DAWE:  Good morning,

          8  Chairperson Clarke and Committee members.  Thank you

          9  for the opportunity to speak with you today about a

         10  very important topic, the New York City Fire

         11  Prevention Code.

         12                 Historically, very little attention

         13  has been paid to this rather glamourless issue.  The

         14  FDNY is happy to have the City Council's interest

         15  now.  We believe that revising the Fire Code makes

         16  sense, and we certainly support any effort to do so.

         17    We also believe it is quite timely to address the

         18  issue of the Fire Code, right now, for a number of

         19  reasons.

         20                 The Department of Buildings is

         21  currently undertaking a far- reaching revision of

         22  the New York City Building Code involving

         23  representatives from both the private and public

         24  sectors, including the Fire Department.  Moreover,

         25  advancements in technology make revision of the Fire
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          2  Code absolutely imperative.

          3                 Lastly, the World Trade Center

          4  attacks prompted an entirely new way of thinking

          5  about the construction of, as well as emergency

          6  response involving high- rise buildings in New York

          7  City.

          8                 For years, the New York City Building

          9  Code has been criticized for being complex and

         10  cumbersome.  To address these concerns, in November

         11  of last year, Mayor Bloomberg formed a Commission to

         12  study the feasibility of adopting a model Building

         13  Code.  The Commission included representatives from

         14  the Department of Buildings, the Fire Department of

         15  New York, the City Council's Housing and Buildings

         16  Committee, and private groups involved in real

         17  estate and building industry in New York City.

         18                 The Commission issued a report

         19  earlier this year that recommended the adoption of

         20  the International Code Council's International

         21  Building Code, or IBC, one of two model codes

         22  reviewed by the Commission.  The Commission also

         23  recommended the establishment of the New York City

         24  Model Code Program to implement the report's

         25  recommendations.  This program is comprised of a
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          2  framework of 13 technical committees that will each

          3  examine distinct areas of the IBC and make changes

          4  to customize it for New York City's dense, urban

          5  environment.

          6                 The resulting IBC modified to fit New

          7  York City will form the basis for a new proposed New

          8  York City Building Code, which will be presented to

          9  the City Council for adoption.  The goal is to

         10  complete the work by early 2005.

         11                 The Fire Department of New York is

         12  intensively involved in this program with

         13  representatives on virtually all of the technical

         14  committees.

         15                 As most of you know, the Building

         16  Code is separate from the Fire Code.  For those who

         17  may be unaware, the Building Code ordinarily

         18  regulates, for example, the installation of fire

         19  related building features such as sprinklers and

         20  fire alarms. While the Fire Code, govern the

         21  maintenance and operation of these systems and their

         22  inspection.  This is true currently in New York

         23  City.  So while the work of the Department of

         24  Buildings' committees will touch on the Fire Code

         25  issues, we expect that the Model Code Commission
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          2  will separate out those provisions of the IBC that

          3  should more appropriately be part of the New York

          4  City Fire Code.

          5                 For our Department, revising the Fire

          6  Code would be a comprehensive, multi- year

          7  undertaking involving uniformed personnel,

          8  engineers, and attorneys.  Nevertheless, we regard

          9  Fire Code Revision as an essential agency need.  The

         10  FDNY has therefore established a special unit within

         11  our Bureau of Legal Affairs whose sole

         12  responsibility is Fire Code Revision and Rule

         13  Drafting.  We plan to have three engineers serve as

         14  the nucleus of this group to coordinate our present

         15  and future code revision efforts.

         16                 This serious commitment of personnel

         17  resources means an allocation of scarce City

         18  dollars.  We are currently working with the Mayor's

         19  Office and the Office of Management and Budget to

         20  determine what kind of resources we can commit to

         21  this effort. Nonetheless, the reason for doing so

         22  now, as I have said before, are persuasive.  The IBC

         23  is being adopted and adapted in New York City.  Ever

         24  changing technology makes it necessary, and 9/11 has

         25  altered our thinking forever on the many
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          2  vulnerabilities of our City's high- rise buildings.

          3                 In the meantime, while our efforts to

          4  update our Fire Code get underway in earnest over

          5  the next year or so, the FDNY still enforces the

          6  current Fire Code and updates it as necessary.  To

          7  that end, the FDNY supports a package of legislation

          8  that advances the Department's goal of addressing

          9  technology changes and an ever- changing business

         10  environment.

         11                 This package includes two bills that

         12  are being voted on today.  The first one, Intro.

         13  414, relates to dry cleaning and addresses certain

         14  inconsistencies, and some overlap, that currently

         15  exists between the New York City Building and Fire

         16  Codes.  The Department believes that the conflicting

         17  or overlapping Fire Code provisions should be

         18  eliminated to promote compliance and to lessen the

         19  uncertainty and confusion for those businesses or

         20  persons that must abide by these regulations.

         21                 The second one, Intro. 415, raises

         22  the threshold quantity of liquefied carbon dioxide

         23  that requires a City permit. The proposed amendment

         24  relieves small businesses such as bars and

         25  restaurants from the current permit and fee
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          2  requirements and is proposed in light of

          3  technological improvements.

          4                 Three other pieces of legislation are

          5  important as well and await introduction to this

          6  Committee.  One proposed local law relates to

          7  mechanical refrigeration.  The current Fire Code

          8  requirements governing the installation, testing and

          9  operation of mechanical refrigerating equipment are

         10  outdated or effectively have been superseded.  The

         11  proposed local law would eliminate the outdated and

         12  duplicative requirements for refrigerating system

         13  installation and testing, and make appropriate

         14  conforming changes to the operating requirements.

         15  In addition, new amendments to Building Code

         16  Reference Standard RS 13- 6, to be adopted by

         17  Department of Buildings in conjunction with this

         18  local law, will incorporate the most recent industry

         19  standard, which reclassified existing refrigerants

         20  and classified new refrigerants with greater

         21  emphasis on toxicity and flammability.  Prior to the

         22  1990 Federal Clean Air Act amendments, the

         23  refrigerating industry predominantly used Freon

         24  refrigerants, which are non- toxic and nonflammable.

         25                 The federally mandated phase- out of
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          2  production of Freon refrigerants and the annual

          3  incremental Federal tax on the sale of Freon are

          4  reducing the use of Freon refrigerants and resulting

          5  in greater use of alternative refrigerants, several

          6  of which are toxic or moderately flammable.  The use

          7  of such refrigerants heightens the need for proper

          8  supervision of refrigerating systems by a qualified

          9  operating engineer.  The proposed local law

         10  clarifies the existing operating requirements and

         11  addresses the use of these new types of

         12  refrigerants, thereby enabling property owners to

         13  switch to alternative refrigerants while protecting

         14  public safety.  The legislation we proposed is

         15  supported by the refrigeration industry.

         16                 Another part of the Fire Department's

         17  ongoing effort to modernize, streamline and clarify

         18  the Fire Code relates to combustible and flammable

         19  mixtures.  The proposed local would eliminate

         20  provisions of the Code that refer to outdated

         21  products and materials, or that have been preempted

         22  or rendered obsolete by Federal regulations or

         23  industry standards.  It would also address the

         24  concerns and recommendations of the U.S. Chemical

         25  Safety and Hazard Investigation Board, in their
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          2  April 25, 2002 report on the explosion at the

          3  Caltech facility on 19th Street normal Manhattan.

          4  The Board recommended separation of incompatible

          5  materials, identification of container contents and

          6  assuring worker knowledge of the hazardous nature of

          7  the mixtures with which they work.  Such changes

          8  will be beneficial to the orderly regulation of

          9  flammable and combustible materials, as well as to

         10  the individuals and businesses affected by such

         11  regulations.

         12                 We also support legislation that

         13  addresses an important omission in the Fire Code

         14  with respect to overcrowding. The current law is

         15  ambiguous- it does not contain a definition of

         16  overcrowding- so clarifying this would aid

         17  enforcement.

         18                 Lastly, we have reviewed the bill

         19  proposed by the Council relating to Fire Code

         20  revision.  Again, while we applaud the Council for

         21  its supportive efforts to see the Fire Code revised

         22  and updates, we do not think this legislation is

         23  necessary and, in the current budgetary climate,

         24  does not make sense.  It removes the flexibility we

         25  regard as necessary to take on this complicated and
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          2  comprehensive task.

          3                 Thank you for allowing us this time

          4  to speak with you today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          6  much, Chief Dawe.  Let me say that, first of all, I

          7  am really glad to see that some examination is being

          8  done of the Code, I think that is a step in the

          9  right direction.  I am concerned about us doing this

         10  in a piecemeal manner, however.  Let me just ask a

         11  couple of questions based on your testimony.

         12                 On page 4 you state that the

         13  Department is revising the Fire Code and that would

         14  be a comprehensive, multi- year undertaking.  When

         15  you say multi- year, do you have a sense of how long

         16  that multi- year may be?

         17                 CHIEF DAWE:  I would think it would

         18  depend on the resources that we were allowed to

         19  commit to the effort.  Currently, the Department of

         20  Buildings effort they are contemplating presenting a

         21  package, I believe, at the end of this year, which

         22  puts them, I think, on a two- year time frame,

         23  approximately.  But they have been given a lot of

         24  resources to move forward with that project, and

         25  they have received a lot of support from the private
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          2  sector, also, in their efforts.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Have we

          4  considered using their formula since they are so far

          5  along the way in the process, and done a comparative

          6  analysis based on what their cost are, so that we

          7  can get a sense of whether in fact, you know, it is

          8  well worth it, particularly, when the Fire Code and

          9  the Building Code almost work hand in hand?

         10                 CHIEF DAWE:  We are moving in that

         11  direction, as I testified, we are heavily engaged

         12  with the Department of Buildings in their current

         13  project.  So we are intimately knowledgeable of the

         14  process that they are using.  And we believe that

         15  such a process would be adaptable to a Fire Code

         16  revision.  We are moving forward examining that

         17  process to confirm the fact that it is adaptable to

         18  a Fire Code revision.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  It would be

         20  helpful for this Committee to get some sort sense

         21  from the Department as to what the comparisons would

         22  be.  There may be areas, I am thinking, where

         23  resources can be shared.  And I am concerned that we

         24  not duplicate efforts, but where possible, be able

         25  to capitalize off of dollars that are already,
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          2  currently being spent to upgrade the Building Code.

          3                 So if at all possible, once you have

          4  completed your evaluation and analysis, if you could

          5  get back to the Committee with some idea about what

          6  their costs are going to be, and where we can look

          7  at some, perhaps, some partnership.  I think the

          8  same building owners that are concerned about the

          9  Building Code, must be concerned about the Fire

         10  Code, as well.

         11                 Let me also ask about the

         12  establishment of the Special Unit.  You mentioned

         13  that the Special Unit will have three engineers

         14  dedicated as the nucleus of the group.  How many

         15  folks are actually in the group?

         16                 CHIEF DAWE:  At this time, the

         17  transfer has not been completed.  The engineers in

         18  question are currently assigned to the Bureau of

         19  Fire Prevention.  And this is an internal

         20  reorganization, which we feel will make the process

         21  feel smoother and better position these individuals

         22  to address the code revision process. All three of

         23  the individuals are currently Fire Department staff

         24  and it would just be an internal transfer.  The

         25  date, the exact date of the transfer has not been
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          2  set yet, we are working on some issues of continuity

          3  as they leave the current unit they are assigned to.

          4    Somebody else is going to have to pick up the work

          5  they are doing there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, so in

          7  total, how many folks do you anticipate having in

          8  this Special Unit?

          9                 MR. BAZEL:  Let me answer that.

         10  Julian Bazel, Counsel to the Fire Department.

         11                 I think we are in the very

         12  preliminary stages here, and the purpose of creating

         13  this unit is really sort of a preliminary step to

         14  get a handle on what needs to be done.  We have the

         15  three engineers or the people who are just sort of

         16  beginning the process, any kind of Code revision

         17  undertaking of this sort will necessarily involve a

         18  large commitment of agency resources above and

         19  beyond the people who are actually dedicated

         20  exclusively to the project.

         21                 For example, I, obviously, will be

         22  involved; Chief Dawe will be involved, other agency

         23  officials.  The question is going to be, what kind

         24  of additional resources will we need actually

         25  devoted to working on it.  And we are considering,
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          2  we have been talking to the Mayor's Office about a

          3  commitment of resources for some additional legal

          4  staff and engineering staff that could expand the

          5  project.  You know, this particular group is really

          6  only just sort of the nucleus as we said, and the

          7  purpose of this is just sort to show our commitment

          8  and to get them devoted to this to take them away

          9  from all of the other day- to- day business that

         10  always takes you away from doing Code revision.  We

         11  have been interested in Code revision for quite some

         12  time; we have been doing on a piecemeal basis in

         13  part, because of the resource issue.  We have

         14  developed a number of bills that have been in the

         15  works for some time working with industry.

         16                 But the goal now is in view of the

         17  interest, the focus, and the need to coordinate with

         18  the Building Code revision, we are hoping that we

         19  can ramp up and get some additional staff. Exactly

         20  the number of staff will depend on how we intend to

         21  do this.  The Building Code revision project is a

         22  very open project, a very inclusive project, which

         23  has a lot of advantages.  On the other hand, it does

         24  require a lot of resources to do all this

         25  coordination of working with many, many groups and
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          2  many, many individuals who want to participate and

          3  creating.  They have an Internet site, and there is

          4  a lot of stuff going on that, and that is a very

          5  labor- intensive process.  If we were to do it a

          6  different way, and obviously with public input, but

          7  maybe less of, more of a internal project and then,

          8  you know, open it up for discussion that might

          9  require less resources.

         10                 But we are, so I do not think we know

         11  yet, exactly which way we are going, and how many

         12  additional resources.  But we have asked for

         13  additional attorneys and engineers to work on this

         14  project, to do the drafting, and to do the analysis.

         15                 I will say one thing in terms of

         16  coordination with the Building Department, on a

         17  number of initial steps we have been coordinating.

         18  There has been from the legal perspective the

         19  General Counsel from the Department of Buildings has

         20  been meeting with ICC representatives to discuss the

         21  legal issues involved in utilizing their model code.

         22    And I will say that I have been participating in

         23  that, and that we have, you know, it has been

         24  discussed in that context the need to address the

         25  Fire Code, if and when the Fire Code is revised, as
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          2  well.  So there is some preliminary steps in that

          3  direction, as well.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, let me

          5  just stop a moment to acknowledge that we have been

          6  joined by Council Member Christine Quinn of

          7  Manhattan.  Her district held the Caltech Industry's

          8  problem.

          9                 Let me just say that in your

         10  testimony you stated the Building Code Commission

         11  had 13 committees.  And right now, we are talking

         12  about three engineers for our Specialized Unit.  I

         13  am a bit concerned about, you know, just, first of

         14  all, those three engineers being totally

         15  overwhelmed.  But beyond that, us not maximizing on

         16  the expertise that is currently available.  And I

         17  would like to suggest that, you know, we look very

         18  seriously at looking at ways that we can establish

         19  linkages with the Building Code Commission where

         20  applicable.  So that we can get a head start off of

         21  work that is currently being done.  I am concerned

         22  about redundancy and just as everyone else is in the

         23  City, of course, maximizing resources because of the

         24  shortage of the resources that are required.

         25                 Let me just yield a moment to my
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          2  colleague, Council Member Tony Avella, who I

          3  understand has some very special remarks to make.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.  And I ask the indulgence of our

          6  speakers here that are giving testimony from the

          7  Fire Department for a few moments, because as Chair

          8  of the Italian- American Caucus of the City Council,

          9  from time to time I do entertain guests from Italy,

         10  and we have several guests that are seated in the

         11  back.  I will ask them to stand up, the Mayor of

         12  Santa Candero (phonetic), Italy, Antonio Baccaleare

         13  (phonetic). And I know I am going to get this wrong,

         14  Vito Antonio Calawicio (phonetic), who is the

         15  President of the City Council of Santa Candero, and

         16  Joseph Chichi (phonetic), who is the Chief of

         17  Police, so we have to listen to what he says.

         18                 But I welcome you here to the City

         19  Council, and we certainly look forward to a

         20  relationship with the Italian- American Caucus.  And

         21  thank you, Madam Chair, for allowing me to introduce

         22  those special guests.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, and

         24  welcome to the City of New York.

         25                 Let me just ask, because we have been
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          2  doing some comparative analysis from the Council

          3  standpoint, and we looked at New Jersey and what

          4  they have done.  And New Jersey started with the

          5  model code, and they put together a 20 to 25- person

          6  Commission to amend their code.  The Commission

          7  meets every two months to do continual update.

          8                 Why haven't we looked at, or have we,

          9  let me ask that question, looked at some of what is

         10  happening around us in the region and how they have

         11  been able to accomplish, you know, their code

         12  revisions and not use some of their best practices

         13  to get it done here in the City of New York?

         14                 CHIEF DAWE:  As the Department of

         15  Buildings moved forward with their effort, it became

         16  apparent that they would have to look to other

         17  jurisdictions to find out how their code revision

         18  had been accomplished.  And in doing so, it was

         19  quite obvious that the place to look was New York

         20  State, because New York State had just done their

         21  Building Code based on a model Building Code.

         22                 So being that the Fire Department has

         23  been involved with the Department of Buildings on

         24  their effort, we have been involved in their

         25  negotiations with the State in observing how they,
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          2  how the State moved forward with their code revision

          3  practices.  And we have been aware of their

          4  accomplishments and how they have moved forward.  We

          5  are keeping those accomplishments in mind and the

          6  practices that they use.  We would also be open to

          7  looking at other jurisdictions to see if they had a

          8  different approach that would be adaptable in New

          9  York City.

         10                 MR. BAZEL:  Let me supplement that.

         11  Well it is not something that has not been addressed

         12  here that with the Code Revision Project is a very

         13  large undertaking and requires a commitment of

         14  resources.  What the Fire Department has done, as

         15  have other agencies, to address new technologies and

         16  changes, is to proceed through rule making.  And

         17  that has really been the area where the Fire

         18  Department has attempted to modernize its

         19  requirements to the maximum extent possible

         20  consistent with the code.  Sometimes the code does

         21  get in the way because it is outdated.  But we do

         22  have a substantial body of rules that address some

         23  of the latest technologies and regulate them in an

         24  appropriate fashion.  That is one thing.

         25                 The other part of it is in terms of
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          2  an ongoing review process, the concept of or the

          3  advantage of the model codes, and one of the reasons

          4  I think that has sparked interest in them is that

          5  they provide a structure for an ongoing review,

          6  ongoing code review of the model code, which then

          7  can be translated into local codes.  These, you

          8  know, the ICC and other model code Commissions have

          9  committees that meet on a regular three- year cycle

         10  and review the codes.  And that is something that is

         11  attractive to us.  As I have said, you know, we have

         12  done this primarily through rules and through

         13  legislation to address the most pressing issues.

         14  And we do have, as is mentioned in our testimony; we

         15  have been working on a series of bills, which

         16  address immediate problems, some of the most

         17  outdated subchapters.  But clearly there is a need

         18  for an ongoing review of the code, I think we would

         19  agree about that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  In your closing

         21  of your testimony, Chief Dawe, you stated that

         22  Intro. 611 essentially is not necessary and it does

         23  not make sense.  Can you give us your reasoning?

         24                 It calls for the FDNY to assure the

         25  City that the Fire Code is sufficient for modern
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          2  fire hazards.  Can you say why it does not make

          3  sense and it is unnecessary?

          4                 CHIEF DAWE:  We feel the

          5  introduction, the proposed law is unnecessary and

          6  does not make sense in light of the uncertain

          7  economic and budgetary constraints that the Fire

          8  Department faces.

          9                 As Chairman of the Fire and Criminal

         10  Justice Committee, I am sure you are well aware that

         11  the Fire Department budget is heavily, heavily rests

         12  on its operational needs, and that is where our

         13  major commitment sits.  In fact, in the stringent

         14  budget times we have been faced with, we have had to

         15  reduce some of our operational capabilities to meet

         16  the mandated budgetary constraints set for us.

         17                 The Fire Department feels that the

         18  introduction would place us in a position of having

         19  to possibly jeopardize operational needs in order to

         20  meet the mandate of the proposed legislation.

         21  Committee resources that are not funded in our

         22  budget to this issue could very easily impact on our

         23  ability to provide operational forces that are

         24  needed throughout the City.

         25                 Chairperson Clarke:  It seems to me
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          2  that then we are caught in a Catch- 22, because

          3  certainly the revision of our Fire Code could indeed

          4  help to mitigate some of the circumstances that call

          5  for operational uses.  And you know, if we continue

          6  down that road, we are still draining those

          7  operational dollars.  If we were to revise the code,

          8  perhaps we would again, you know, be able to find

          9  room in just our day- to- day lives where, you know,

         10  the use of our operations become lessened, and

         11  thereby, you know, really being able to provide the

         12  type of coverage that is required.

         13                 So you know, the cart before the

         14  horse, I do not know, necessarily.  But I do believe

         15  that we do need to take this extremely seriously.

         16  When you look at some of the antiquated things that

         17  reside in the code currently, and you look at the

         18  lack of knowledge in the public domain what can

         19  cause really hazardous conditions, you know, I see

         20  it as a matter of urgency, and I am sure the people

         21  in the City of New York do.

         22                 And I recognize the resource problem,

         23  believe me, I had a protracted struggle over the

         24  closing of Fire Houses.  So I very well understand

         25  those constraints.  You know, again, I would like to
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          2  urge that we look at what is happening with that

          3  Building Code Commission very seriously, because a

          4  moment wasted in this revision, I think, you know

          5  can cost us in the long run.

          6                 Council Member Avella, did you?   Let

          7  me just acknowledge that we have been joined by

          8  Council Member Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair.  No, I just wanted to back up what you

         11  were just saying that you know funding is always

         12  going to be a problem.  And if the argument against

         13  Intro. 61, Resolution 61 is because it takes away

         14  accessibility in terms of funding, I mean, I agree

         15  with the Chair, I do not think that is a valid

         16  argument.

         17                 I mean if we consider this an

         18  important for the Fire department to do, then it is

         19  up to us to allocated the funding to do it.  And to

         20  my knowledge, I mean I have only been in office a

         21  year and eleven months, but I have been government a

         22  long time, and there has always been funding

         23  problems.  I do not think that we can use that as an

         24  example not to go ahead and revise the code.  So I

         25  certainly support your comments.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  Council

          3  Member Quinn.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.  As

          5  you know, the Chair said that the Caltech explosion

          6  was in my district.  And based on that I very much

          7  agree with Council Members Clarke and Avella that I

          8  am concerned that the Department has an objection to

          9  Intro. 611, I think it is, and that there would be a

         10  resistance to moving more expeditiously to deal with

         11  the problems and the outdated Fire Code, you know,

         12  in the City.  And I know in your testimony you make

         13  a reference to Caltech and that one of the other

         14  pieces of legislation that the Committee is hearing

         15  today would basically, I think, I do not have right

         16  in front of me, it would say such changes would be

         17  beneficial to the orderly regulation of flammable

         18  and combustible material, and I think, addresses,

         19  you know, I'm sorry, it addresses the concerns and

         20  recommendations of the US Chemical Safety and Hazard

         21  Investigation Board and their April Report.

         22                 So which bill is that, that deals

         23  their recommendations.

         24                 MR. BAZEL:  We have three bills that

         25  are, I believe, ready or almost ready to be
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          2  introduced.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So it is not

          4  the ones today?

          5                 MR. BAZEL:  No, they would have been

          6  introduced, I think but for the fact that the

          7  session is ending and they will have to be re-

          8  introduced.  But one of the bills is a revision of

          9  the flammable subchapter and the combustible

         10  subchapter, large portions of which are outdated or

         11  have been preempted by federal regulations.  But in

         12  the course of simplifying it and reducing it to its

         13  basics, we also felt that appropriated by the light

         14  of the issues raised by the Council to address a

         15  number of the concerns, raised by that fire, and

         16  which are outlined in these remarks.

         17                 So hopefully that bill will be

         18  introduced either, I assume, at the beginning of the

         19  next session.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Just a couple

         21  of things, one, as the Council Member whose district

         22  includes the facility that exploded, I would have

         23  appreciated getting input on what you were working

         24  on.  Because certainly large parts of my district

         25  are manufacturing, so this, thankfully, was an
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          2  isolated incident, but it is not necessarily going

          3  to continue to be that.  So I would have appreciated

          4  getting information on what you are working on, and

          5  would like to see it before it is introduced.

          6                 That said, in what you are working

          7  on, every recommendation of the US Chemical Safety

          8  and Hazard Investigation Board's Report is addressed

          9  in this package of legislation that you will be

         10  bringing to the Council?

         11                 MR. HANSEN:  James Hansen.  No, the

         12  local law that the Fire Department will be

         13  submitting, hopefully, only relates to flammable and

         14  combustible liquids.  There were many

         15  recommendations of the US Chemical Safety Board that

         16  would not appropriately bid into this subchapter

         17  that we were revising.  But I believe that all of

         18  the recommendations that they made with regard to

         19  separation of incompatible materials, regard to

         20  labeling of containers as to their contents, the

         21  approval of the containers that they approve of for

         22  that purpose, and there be some type of worker

         23  knowledge of the chemicals that they are working

         24  with.  Whatever was appropriate in that subchapter,

         25  I believe, it will be found in the proposal of the
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          2  law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So the

          4  statement in the testimony might be a little over

          5  far- reaching then?  Because it says it would also

          6  address the concerns and recommendations, it does

          7  not say some of.

          8                 MR. HANSEN:  As they relate to

          9  flammable and combustible liquids.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So that is,

         11  all right, so tell me then the recommendations that

         12  was in the US Chemical Safety and Hazard Board's

         13  Report that you are not addressing, and why the

         14  Department has chose not to address them?

         15                 I recognize that bill deals with a

         16  chapter, so that in that bill dealing with that

         17  chapter, you have those recommendations.  But why

         18  isn't there other pieces of legislation that deal

         19  with the other recommendations and other chapters,

         20  or whatever?

         21                 MR. BAZEL:  I mean, I guess the thing

         22  is that we have not addressed them yet, that is the

         23  thing that they will require additional review, they

         24  deal with corrosives and some other kinds of areas.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I guess my
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          2  question is why they have not been reviewed?  I mean

          3  the explosion took place a year and a half ago,

          4  almost two years ago.  The report came out in April,

          5  it is December, so why are we only seeing this one

          6  section of the report being moved into law?  Do you

          7  disagree with the other recommendations or you just

          8  have not been able to get to them yet?

          9                 MR. BAZEL:  Well, there were several

         10  recommendations in there that I think would be hard

         11  to argue that would be beneficial to the City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Those are?

         13                 MR. BAZEL:  Well, that the Fire

         14  Department inspectors would be aware of egregious

         15  OSHA violations, and perhaps make referrals to OSHA

         16  representatives.  That sounds like a workable

         17  solution, however, I am not sure that it is for the

         18  Fire Department, you know, in terms of training,

         19  getting all of our inspectors trained with regard to

         20  that, and the resources that that would drain on our

         21  ability to conduct other Fire Safety Inspections.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Did you, I'm

         23  sorry, did you just say that you don't think it is

         24  workable to make sure that FDNY Inspectors are

         25  knowledgeable of OSHA Codes and able to identify
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          2  OSHA violations?  Because that is a very, very

          3  powerful, I appreciate your honesty very much so if

          4  that is what you just said. But that sound to me

          5  like what you said, and that is a little nerve way

          6  of thinking.

          7                 MR. HANSEN:  Well I just want to say,

          8  I think as we said initially, this has not been

          9  fully reviewed.  We are talking about code revision.

         10    That is a somewhat different issue that may have

         11  to do with enforcement policy and enforcement

         12  issues.

         13                 You know the Fire Department enforces

         14  the Fire Prevention Code.  We are not an OSHA

         15  compliance agency.  There may be, you know,

         16  synergies and things, you know, things that can be

         17  done in this regard.  But I do not think that that

         18  was the focus of our testimony here.  I do not think

         19  that is necessarily a Code Revision issue.  I think

         20  that is more of an enforcement issue.

         21                 And I think what we are talking about

         22  is that the bills that have been in the works in

         23  terms of Code Revision to the extent that these

         24  issues are raised by Caltech, we have addressed

         25  them, and I think that that is the appropriate thing
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          2  to do at this point.  I do not know about all the

          3  other issues.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Well just one

          5  more thing on that, and then I just have a final

          6  question on the Caltech and the Fire System.  So you

          7  are saying that the Fire Department folks, it is not

          8  that you do not have the ability to train them to do

          9  OSHA checks, so- to- speak, you are just saying it

         10  is not within your jurisdiction to check for OSHA.

         11                 MR. HANSEN:  Yes, I mean the Fire

         12  Prevention Inspectors have certain inspection

         13  authority.  There are certain other provisions of

         14  law they enforce.  I am not exactly sure which

         15  provisions that we would be talking about here, but

         16  certainly, we are not, generally, an OSHA compliance

         17  agency.

         18                 And you know, when you start asking

         19  inspectors, an inspectional force to do other kinds

         20  of inspectional activities, I mean that again raises

         21  issues about what their mission is and also about

         22  resources.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Who, and I

         24  apologize for not knowing this, I am visiting the

         25  Fire and Criminal Justice Committee, I am not a

                                                            35

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  member of it, who is then charged with being

          3  knowledgeable and knowing if there is an egregious,

          4  I think that was the word that your colleague used,

          5  egregious OSHA violations.

          6                 MR. HANSEN:  I think it depends on

          7  the nature of the violation.  An OSHA violation can

          8  consist of a variety of types of activities.  I mean

          9  there may be, for example, an egress, a serious

         10  egress violation, such as a blocked egress.  That is

         11  actually something that both the Building Department

         12  and the Fire Department actually might be involved

         13  in enforcing.  But to the extent that there is, for

         14  example, workers' safety issues, I am not sure

         15  exactly, it may be DEP in certain circumstances, the

         16  Department of Environmental Protection, it depends

         17  on the nature of the violation.

         18                 But certainly the Fire Department

         19  does not normally get involved in that unless our

         20  own regulations, I mean, if it was a Worker

         21  Protection Safety Requirement in connection with the

         22  use of a flammable or combustible material, I mean,

         23  it might actually be in our regulations, we might be

         24  forcing our own regulations.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:   Just in the
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          2  case of Caltech the egregious OSHA violations that

          3  occurred that were under the purview of the Fire

          4  Department's inspection, are you saying that their

          5  recommendation that folks should be better trained

          6  to be able to identify those in other situation is a

          7  recommendation of training that is not meetable

          8  (sic) by the New York Fire Department?

          9                 MR. BAZEL:  Actually that is one

         10  that, hopefully, our local law will address in terms

         11  of a basic legal mandate that the people who are in

         12  charge of are responsible for, engaged in operations

         13  involving flammable or combustible materials, be

         14  knowledgeable about that.

         15                 And in fact, again, the local law is

         16  envisioned as an enabling statue not a detailed

         17  regulation, since, you know, there is just a whole

         18  range of materials.  The goal is that where there is

         19  a need, the Fire Department could adopt a regulation

         20  governing that.  And the law specifically provides

         21  that where the Fire Department determines it

         22  necessary, the Fire Department can require that the

         23  individuals obtain a Fire Department's Certificate

         24  of Fitness, which is a certificate that you obtain

         25  after going through a certain amount of study and
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          2  taking an examination.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Are you going

          4  to update that course and the criteria for

          5  certification based on the recommendations included

          6  in the Chemical Safety and Hazard Board's Report?

          7                 MR. BAZEL:  I assume that once the

          8  law is revised and we would go down this road in

          9  terms of this area, I think that would certainly be

         10  something we would be giving consideration to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  What were the

         12  other things that was part of the Federal Board's

         13  recommendation is that the City of New York updates

         14  its Fire Code in a comprehensive manner. And I think

         15  your answers to my questions in some ways, I think,

         16  underscore that recommendation, because, you know,

         17  first we talked about the flammable and combustible

         18  material paragraph of the Administrative Code, and

         19  some of the OSHA stuff is you, not all of the OSHA

         20  stuff is you, you cannot update your certification

         21  program until you change the Combustible and

         22  Flammable Material's Code.  So I think your kind of

         23  answer, and partially your answer is, I cannot

         24  answer you that and that question because it is

         25  beyond the scope of what we are doing, underscores
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          2  the need to have a total review of the Fire Code.

          3  Because as you know way better than I do, it is all

          4  very, very connected and one thing impacts the

          5  other.

          6                 So why then are you not in support of

          7  611, which gives a much more, I think, appropriate

          8  time frame from moving forward in the Fire Code?  I

          9  fear that doing it in more of a piecemeal manner may

         10  make some problems worse, but certainly not address

         11  all of the problems that exist and were clearly

         12  outlined in the Federal Report.

         13                 I mean, it seems like we got this

         14  report in April, the explosion happened almost two

         15  years ago for you to say, to kind of indicate you

         16  have not gotten to stuff yet, is just not an

         17  acceptable answer.  I have to admit, as the person

         18  who represents 19th Street where thankfully none of

         19  the residents on that block who live there were

         20  injured, because you know, there are residences on

         21  that block, and thank God, there wasn't more injury.

         22                 CHIEF DAWE:  I cannot disagree with

         23  anything you are saying.  I mean, I think the Fire

         24  Department, and you know in my testimony, I agree

         25  with what you are saying.  The Fire Department
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          2  agrees that we need to take a comprehensive review

          3  of the entire Fire Code and revise it as necessary

          4  to bring it in line with current standards and

          5  technology.  And we are committed to accomplishing

          6  that, but we are restrained by the resources

          7  available to us to accomplish that.  And there are

          8  some issues that present, as we move forward, that

          9  we feel need to be addressed immediately.

         10                 So while we agree that we need to

         11  review the whole code and revise it, we do not want

         12  to remove from our power the ability to address an

         13  individual issue that arises, and to address the

         14  ongoing concerns of the existing code while we lay

         15  the groundwork to implement a new code.  And again,

         16  our objection to Intro. 611, is the constraints that

         17  it would place on our flexibility regarding, you

         18  know, budgetary constraints.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But I am just,

         20  I am very concerned.  And Council Member Avella

         21  referenced this that if we do not pass a law that

         22  gives a time frame that based on your own statement

         23  that the Department does not have --  what I hear

         24  you saying is the Department does not have the money

         25  at this moment in time to update the Fire Code in a
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          2  year.

          3                 CHIEF DAWE:  Yes, I agree with that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  That is a very

          5  frightening statement that we do not have enough

          6  money to update the Fire Code. A Fire Code, which

          7  was part of what caused an explosion to happen in my

          8  district.  We are saying we do not have enough money

          9  to basically have a code that protects workers and

         10  citizens in the City of New York.  I mean, your

         11  statement, and I really do appreciate your honesty,

         12  but I think is exactly why we need 611. Because

         13  otherwise the Fire Code update is just going to get

         14  pushed back and back and back further as a result of

         15  budget constraints. You know, if we can create an

         16  entire new 3- 1- 1 System so people can more quickly

         17  access services, we can find the money to update the

         18  Fire Code in a year.  We found the money for 3- 1-

         19  1; we should be able to update the Fire Code in a

         20  year.

         21                 So thank you for that piece of

         22  legislation, Madam Chair, and thank you for your

         23  testimony.  But I think, unfortunately, the

         24  Department has admitted, left to their own devices,

         25  this will not happen in the matter that we need it
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          2  to happen, and in the manner that the federal

          3  government has said to the City of New York it needs

          4  to happen and it must happen.  And thank you, thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

          7  Council Member Quinn.  I have a couple of more

          8  questions.  Let me just say that in listening to the

          9  testimony, particularly with Council Member Quinn,

         10  in your own concerns that have been raised,

         11  particularly with respect to the resource

         12  constraints.  You know, we join with FDNY with this

         13  one, it is important, and I think that we will

         14  stress that even more to the Mayor that we find the

         15  resources that are required to get this job done.

         16                 What I would like to ask is, do you

         17  have a sense of how much it would cost to adopt a

         18  new Fire Code?

         19                 CHIEF DAWE:  I do not think we are

         20  prepared to give any kind of an estimate at this

         21  time.  We are still in the examination phase of how

         22  we would go about it.  I think one of the big

         23  questions that still remains to be resolved

         24  regarding the Building Code revision.  It has to do

         25  with copyright privileges, and publication and
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          2  dissemination of that document when it is done. And

          3  that is going to impact on their cost.  And until we

          4  know what their costs are, it would be impossible

          5  for us to predict our costs, because we would be

          6  faced with the same issues.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  So do you know

          8  if we are talking millions of dollars, tens of

          9  millions of dollars, I mean, I am just trying to get

         10  a sense, somebody should know something, because we

         11  are saying here right now that it is going to be so

         12  costly to us that we cannot dedicated the resources.

         13                 CHIEF DAWE:  No, I do not think that

         14  we are talking about tens of millions of dollars,

         15  no.  I, to put a top number on it, I would say five.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

         17                 CHIEF DAWE:  And I am just, I am kind

         18  of guessing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right, I just

         20  asked you just a ball, you know, we understand that

         21  that is just an guess estimate at this stage.  But

         22  we are trying to get a sense, you know, honestly

         23  trying to get a sense of what we are talking about

         24  here. And I know that we are down to nickels and

         25  dimes in this City with respect to budgetary
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          2  constraints.  But it is important, I think, that we

          3  look at every avenue possible, and again, perhaps an

          4  appeal from the FDNY to the private sector in

          5  partnership may be able to accomplish this.  You

          6  know, there is a lot of good will out there for this

          7  Department, everyone wants to see this Department

          8  rise to a level of, you know, world class, that it

          9  is already classified as.   And there are many who

         10  are concerned about their public safety, rightly so,

         11  that I think, you know, would buy into us being able

         12  to establish a campaign, a partnership, whatever it

         13  is, to help us get this code done.

         14                 So we are just trying to get a sense

         15  from our perspective at looking at the budget, you

         16  know, what we are talking about here to get this

         17  done.

         18                 MR. BAZEL:  I just want to add one

         19  thing with regards to the coordination issues.

         20  Because of the fact that there are Fire- related

         21  provisions in the Building Code that correlate to

         22  various operating and maintenance requirements in

         23  the Fire Code, there is going to be a need for the

         24  two to go in tandem to some degree.  So I do not

         25  think that we could be prepared to complete any Fire
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          2  Code Revision before the Building Code is

          3  substantially completed, or at least the portions

          4  relating to, you know, Fire related matters,

          5  sprinklers, fire alarm systems, things of that sort.

          6                 So I do want to, that should be kept

          7  in mind that there is sort of a coordination issue,

          8  and one of the things the unit, you know, the three-

          9  engineer unit will be focusing on initially is, in

         10  fact, coordinating some of the issues that are

         11  coming out of the Building Code Committees.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, you know,

         13  I can appreciate that, and I hope that, you know, we

         14  do continue down that vein.  But we would like to be

         15  able to see what we can do to expedite this

         16  situation, because, you know, again, anything can

         17  happen at any point in time that will be a drain on

         18  our coffers. And that should not keep us vulnerable

         19  in terms of being able to do what we can to empower

         20  the Department to get this thing done.

         21                 Let me call on Council Member David

         22  Yassky for a question at this time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

         24  Chair Clarke.  I just want to reiterate points that

         25  were made, I know, by you and others earlier, and we
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          2  made it at the last hearing on this, which is that

          3  this is a first order priority.  Particularly, given

          4  that we are undertaking a revision of the Building

          5  Code.  It seems to me that we are wasting and going

          6  to lose an opportunity to do these two things

          7  together, and that a lot of the benefit that we hope

          8  to get from revising the Building Code will be lost

          9  if we do not modernize the Fire Code at the same

         10  time.  I mean that the promise of redoing the

         11  Building Code that we will be able to make

         12  construction cheaper and protect safety, we are not

         13  going to be able to realize unless we do the Fire

         14  Code at the same time.

         15                 So Chair Clarke, I join with you in

         16  believing that we should do this now, and that we

         17  should work with the Administration to ensure that

         18  the Fire Department has the resource it needs to do

         19  it.  But there certainly are no policy reason to

         20  wait, and in fact, there is every policy reason to

         21  do it now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         23  Council Member Yassky.  Let me just ask from a

         24  logistical standpoint, will be able to properly

         25  enforce the new Building Code when it is adopted
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          2  without a new Fire Code?

          3                 CHIEF DAWE:  That would be, there

          4  would be areas that might run, you know, present

          5  enforcement issues to us.  The Fire Department

          6  supports the statement that a new Fire Code is

          7  needed to go with the new Building Code that has

          8  been our position from the start.  We just have not

          9  been able to move in that direction.

         10                 We have made our first step, and we

         11  would like to continue to move in that direction.

         12  It would be important not only that the codes, from

         13  the fact that the codes rest on each other, but that

         14  the enforcement issues involved, the Fire Department

         15  enforces many provisions of the Building Code, and

         16  the Building Department enforces some sections in

         17  Fire Code.  It makes sense that we move forward

         18  together on these issues.

         19                 MR. BAZEL:  I would just supplement

         20  that.  I mean, obviously if there is a new Building

         21  Code, Fire Department inspectors will enforce it,

         22  you know, we will receive appropriate training and

         23  enforce it, you know, within their mandate.

         24                 The problems that arise occur when,

         25  as has happened in the past, when you have the
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          2  Building Code revised and it does not exactly

          3  coordinate with the Fire Code.  There are

          4  occasionally some complex issues where, you know, a

          5  building owner needs to do certain things, and the

          6  Building Code suggests one course of action.  The

          7  Fire Code does not authorize that kind of action.

          8                 What we have done in the past and

          9  what we are doing now in some respects, some of the

         10  respects that are the reason why we are introducing

         11  this Mechanical Refrigeration Bill, is it requires

         12  owners to go through a variance process under the

         13  Fire Code, and that is the kind of thing that would

         14  be desirable to avoid, and that is the reason why we

         15  are introducing some of our own legislation.  That

         16  is actually, the bills that are actually here for a

         17  vote, are actually in a way, at least one of them is

         18  sort of a leftover from the 1968 Building Code

         19  Revision, as you have indicated.

         20                 So those are the kind of issues that

         21  will surface, if a new Fire Code is not enacted in

         22  connection with the new Building Code.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  In my opening

         24  statement I kind of gave a sense of just how old

         25  many of these provisions are, 75 percent of the Code
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          2  provisions being unchanged since 1970, 60 percent

          3  unchanged since 1960, 40 percent unchanged since

          4  1937 when the 1918 Code was actually recodified.

          5                 Does this raise concern with respect

          6  to the age of the Fire Code provisions, and you

          7  know, does it sort of leave those who are in the

          8  position of having to enforce them room for

          9  flexibility and judgement based on the age of these

         10  codes?

         11                 MR. BAZEL:  Well as I indicated

         12  earlier, the way that the Fire Department has

         13  responded to change has been through the rule-

         14  making process.  And that is really, I mean, the

         15  Code is in part really an enabling statute that

         16  simply authorizes the Commission to regulate in

         17  certain areas, and to effectuate rules, or issue

         18  orders requiring compliance for safety purposes.

         19  And I think that in large part, you know, the safety

         20  issues are being addressed through rules or through

         21  appropriate enforcement policies.  It just, the

         22  outdated provisions of the code, I mean the reality

         23  is, is to some degree they simply become irrelevant.

         24    I mean, they are simply no longer, the technology

         25  is no longer used, and people have simply moved on.
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          2  And then the Fire Department attempts to address the

          3  new technologies through a rule- making process.

          4                 But they do, as I indicated a minute

          5  ago, occasionally you bump up to some problems where

          6  there is a lack of flexibility and does require that

          7  the owner go through, rather than doing things in

          8  accordance with the Code, they actually have to make

          9  an application to our Bureau of Fire Prevention,

         10  request a variance from a code.  And you know, to

         11  the extent that we need to, we accommodate them

         12  where it is appropriate and where safety is

         13  protected.

         14                 But obviously it is desirable from

         15  the point of view from saving industry, unnecessary

         16  costs, streamlining the process, making just, you

         17  know, the code requirements transparent to the

         18  public, it is certainly desirable to have a new

         19  modern code that would be more, better reflect what

         20  is going on out there in the world, have appropriate

         21  requirements in there, and have a process for

         22  ongoing review of those requirements.

         23                 And let me just ask, you know, it is

         24  my understanding that the City is permitted under

         25  State Law to have its own Building and Fire Codes,
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          2  provided that those Codes are stricter than the

          3  State Codes.  Given the fact that the State has

          4  adopted the International Fire Code, can it still be

          5  said that the City's Fire Code is stricter than the

          6  State's Fire Code?

          7                 MR. BAZEL:  I think that it would, in

          8  large part it is, whether there are particular

          9  provisions that are arguably less strict than the

         10  International Fire Code would have to be reviewed on

         11  a provision by provision bases.

         12                 I will note that the State Law is not

         13  self effectuating, it does require a determination

         14  by an appropriate State body.  And to our knowledge,

         15  they have not chosen to do that. I think, you know,

         16  you could not make a general statement.  In many

         17  respects the New York City Building Code is the most

         18  restrictive, and some would even argue, in some

         19  cases, more restrictive than it needs to be, given

         20  improvements in technology.  So it is not

         21  automatically the case that ours is less strict than

         22  the International Fire Code.

         23                 CHIEF DAWE:  This issue has also come

         24  up in conjunction with the Department of Building's

         25  effort on the Building Code.  And what has been put
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          2  forward is that each individual provision may not

          3  have to be more restrictive, as long as the

          4  comprehensive code, itself, is more restrictive.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We have been

          6  joined by Council Member James Sanders, Jr. Of Far

          7  Rockaway, Queens.

          8                 Let me call on Council Member David

          9  Yassky at this time.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Chair Clarke,

         11  I just wanted to add that in thinking about cost,

         12  there are significant costs imposed when a major

         13  revision is done in terms of training. Reminds of

         14  when they talk about training the staff, and also

         15  training and understanding out among the private

         16  sector, the Building Industry to understand the new

         17  code, those costs are substantial.  Now they are

         18  worth it, but what I am saying is, if we redo the

         19  Building Code now, and then the Fire Code two years

         20  later, you are going to double all those costs that

         21  we imposed both on government folks, and I think,

         22  even more important on the private sector.  And so

         23  whatever it cost, that when we say that well, it

         24  cost $2 million to go through the process now,

         25  whatever it would be, we should bear in mind that we
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          2  are saving more than that, I would suspect, down the

          3  line in terms of having to retrain a second time.

          4                 So, Chair Clarke, thank you so much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

          6  Council member. Council Member Quinn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I just want to

          8  say that the comment you made about that is

          9  something you are looking at relates to an oversight

         10  from the 1968 update.  It did not give any of us a

         11  great sense of calm.

         12                 One of the things that I think came

         13  out in the US Chemical and Hazard Board's Report, I

         14  cannot ever remember its name, but one of the things

         15  that came out in their report, as I understand it,

         16  is that presently the way our Fire Code is written

         17  somebody could go, an inspector could go in, see an

         18  array of chemicals, there would be actually no

         19  violation under the Code. But based on the new and

         20  frightening world we live in, the reality is that

         21  those mix of chemicals could, in fact, be ones that

         22  could be used in potential terrorists or dangerous,

         23  you know, bomb making activities.

         24                 And as I understand it, part of what

         25  the US Board pointed out was that additional threat
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          2  that since the Code is complicated and cannot just

          3  evolve with the times, and the frightening times

          4  that we live in, that in fact somebody could go

          5  inspect, a place could not be in violation, in fact,

          6  inspectors could have walked out of a place that is

          7  actually a real threat to New Yorkers.

          8                 Are any of the bills that you are

          9  going to introduce addressing that, and what are

         10  your plans to address the Fire Code, the

         11  deficiencies in the Fire Code in this kind of new

         12  post- 9/11 world?

         13                 CHIEF DAWE:  I think our plans to

         14  address this issue are to revise the Fire Code.  You

         15  know, I do not think, we are not in a position to

         16  address that issue on a piecemeal basis.  It is not

         17  something that can be addressed on a piecemeal

         18  basis.  We are talking about probably hundreds of

         19  thousands of chemicals.  It would be impossible to

         20  try to approach that one group of a time. What we

         21  need to do there is that we need to do that as part

         22  of the comprehensive Fire Code Revision.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  The scenario

         24  that I stated, I mean, that is something that the

         25  Chemical Board outlined in their report.  Is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 CHIEF DAWE:  Yes, to the best of

          4  knowledge they did refer to that issue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So that, that

          6  certainly seems like the reality of our Fire Code

          7  not being something that would prevent terrorist

          8  activity bomb making seems like an unbelievable

          9  imminent threat, and something that just cannot be

         10  tolerated.  I men it just seems beyond comprehension

         11  that we would have a code where an inspector could

         12  check something, leave, find no violation and

         13  something really horrible could be happening there.

         14  And does not that create the potential for us to be

         15  able to get, although they have been woefully

         16  neglectful, some help from the federal government.

         17  If it is finances that is the problem with our

         18  inability to update the Fire Code, maybe the folks

         19  from the Chemical and Safety Board could help us get

         20  federal resources, if in fact, this has some

         21  potential bomb making and terrorist implications.

         22                 I think I see them shaking their

         23  heads, which I am going to take, on the record,

         24  affirmative yes from the federal government.  George

         25  Bush came in himself and brought us a check is what
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          2  I am going to take that as.

          3                 MR. BAZEL:  I do not know if we are

          4  prepared to address the issue of terrorism at this

          5  time.  I would say that, I mean, obviously, you

          6  know, the Fire Code inspector that trained to

          7  enforce the Fire Code, I mean, presumably, I hope

          8  that if they observed something that was

          9  extraordinary, you know, they would report it to the

         10  appropriate authorities.  But, you know, they are

         11  not chemical engineers, and they are not going to be

         12  able, you know, they are going in and they are

         13  inspecting what the code says needs to be.  I am not

         14  sure that the code itself is necessarily the problem

         15  with, you know, terrorism, the source is the

         16  problem.  And obviously, to the extent that these

         17  issues can be addressed in the context on the Fire

         18  Code, I assume that would be done.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I just want to

         20  say that the fact that the scenario I stated was one

         21  that is, in fact, one identified by the US Chemical

         22  and Hazard Board, and that the Fire Department is

         23  not prepared at this moment in time to deal with to

         24  the degree to which the threat of terrorism

         25  intersects with the Fire Code as identified by the
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          2  federal government is, I think and outrageous

          3  statement by a City agency.  And something that we,

          4  in the Council cannot tolerate or accept.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Gentlemen, I

          7  want to thank you for your candor, you testimony

          8  here today.  And again, just sort of reiterate I

          9  think the tone from this Committee is one of urgency

         10  on this matter.  And that you would take back some

         11  of our suggestions and recommendations, particularly

         12  with respect to resource allocation, looking at what

         13  is happening with the 13 Committee Commission under

         14  the current Building Code Revision Project, and see

         15  ways in which we can leverage that in making those

         16  types of suggestions.  Because it is very clear, at

         17  least to us even as lay people, that working in

         18  tandem to a certain degree will save us money in the

         19  long run.  And that we can do what we can on our

         20  part to work with the Administration to identify

         21  dollars that can help to expedite this process.

         22                 We would not want to see the type of

         23  lag time, and I know that you don't want to either,

         24  but I understand your constraints as agency folks as

         25  being able to get this done without, you know, the
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          2  authorities on high making that available to you.

          3                 It is my understanding that Council

          4  Member Avella has a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Not so much a

          6  question, but first of all, to the representatives

          7  to the Fire Department that have given testimony

          8  here today, you started out in reference to Intro.

          9  611 being against it.  And I appreciate your

         10  honesty, but everything you have said here today

         11  points out the need to do revise the Fire Code

         12  immediately.

         13                 And Madam Chair, and I appreciate

         14  their honesty, but Madam Chair, I am sitting here

         15  and I am very nervous that we are not doing this

         16  after listening to the testimony and the questions

         17  from my colleagues, I am prepared to vote this out

         18  immediately.  I think we should do this, and if the

         19  Fire Department does not want to do it, we should

         20  make them do it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you for

         22  your comments, Council Member Avella.  This matter

         23  is not on for a vote today, but we will have

         24  constant communication with the Commissioner.  I

         25  think that certainly, the representatives here today
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          2  will take back the level of concern that we have,

          3  and I think rightfully so representing the people of

          4  the City of New York.  And then look in ways in

          5  which we can amicably get this thing done.

          6                 You know, we do not want to be in a

          7  position where we fail to do something today, and

          8  have to stand the repercussions of it tomorrow.  And

          9  I think that is where the members of this Committee

         10  are coming from.  We have, you know, thousands of

         11  residents within our communities that are very

         12  vulnerable, and we need to have every tool in place,

         13  and say that we have done everything we can to

         14  ensure their safety.  And part of that is the

         15  revision of the Fire Code.

         16                 So again, gentlemen, we are going to

         17  be voting on Intro. 414, Intro. 415.  I want to

         18  thank you for your testimony on those matters.  We

         19  recognize that that is a matter of expedition at

         20  this point.  And we will be taking that vote.

         21                 Thank you very much for your time and

         22  attention to this matter.  Chief Dawe, brighten up

         23  there, we are working together.

         24                 CHIEF DAWE:  Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  Council members, we are going to call a vote

          3  at this time.  I would like to thank Council Member

          4  Quinn, who is not a member of this Committee, but

          5  who has come with some very valuable insights,

          6  comments, and questions today, and has helped us

          7  tremendously with her input.

          8                 The bills will be coupled for the

          9  vote, voting on Intro. 414 and Intro. 415.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Clarke.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I vote aye on

         12  all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  If we are

         15  voting, Madam Chair, on dry cleaning and dry dying

         16  establishments, I vote aye on both.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Avella.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Aye on both.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Yes, to

         21  both.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Aye on both.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 5 in the

         25  affirmative, 0 in the negative, no abstentions, the
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          2  items are adopted.  Council members please sign the

          3  Committee reports.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We will be

          5  leaving the vote open for one of our members who has

          6  yet to arrive, Council Member Hiram Monserrate.

          7                 We are going to proceed with our

          8  hearing.  We are going to be hearing next from the

          9  Department of State.  For those members who need to

         10  know what the lineup is, the Department of State - -

         11    Okay, what we will do, is we will hear from the

         12  Department of State next.  We are going to give it

         13  about two minutes, and then we will resume.  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 (Recess taken).

         16                 Our hearing at this time, I would

         17  like to call Mr. Ronald Piester of the New York

         18  State Department of State.  Good morning, Mr.

         19  Piester.

         20                 MR. PIESTER:  Good morning, my name

         21  is Ron Piester. I am the Director of the Division of

         22  Code Enforcement and Administration at the New York

         23  State Department of State.  On behalf of the

         24  Department of State, I would like to thank Speaker

         25  Miller, Chairperson Clarke, and the Committee on
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          2  Fire and Criminal Justice Services for providing an

          3  opportunity to speak today.  The purpose of my

          4  comments is to inform the Committee of the

          5  significant Building Code reform, which the State of

          6  New York recently completed and to offer our

          7  assistance as the City of New York reviews its Fire

          8  Prevention Code.

          9                 In 1999, Governor Pataki initiated a

         10  major overhaul of New York State's Uniform Fire

         11  Prevention and Building Code and State Energy

         12  Conservation Construction Code, which regulate the

         13  construction, fire prevention, and energy

         14  conservation through the State.  The goal of the

         15  initiative was to modernize our Building Code,

         16  acknowledge current construction technology and fire

         17  prevention procedures, and to standardize and

         18  simplify the code's format.  The changes to our code

         19  were promulgated through the statutory authority of

         20  the State Fire Prevention and Building Code Council,

         21  a 17- member body comprised of building and fire

         22  officials, architects and engineers, representatives

         23  of the building trades and persons with

         24  disabilities, and representatives of local

         25  government, including the City of New York.  To
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          2  perpetuate the Governor's mandate, the Code Council

          3  adopted a policy to assure that the code and its

          4  construction standards would be updates every three

          5  years.

          6                 After careful analysis and

          7  consideration of all available options, our Code

          8  Council adopted the 2000 International Codes to

          9  serve as the basis for rewriting our statewide

         10  regulations.  The International Codes are a

         11  comprehensive and coordinated set of model codes for

         12  the built environment, published by the

         13  International Code Council.  Utilizing the

         14  International Codes as a base, we established a

         15  series of technical subcommittees to modify the base

         16  code language where necessary to fit within New

         17  York's existing regulatory framework.  The result is

         18  a new and modern code for the State of New York, a

         19  code which meets the Governor's objectives, promotes

         20  business through streamlined regulation, and most

         21  importantly, a code which upholds the high standards

         22  for fire and life safety that are so critical in

         23  today's world.

         24                 One of the most important features of

         25  our new code is the Fire Code of New York State.
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          2  This document, which is based upon the 2000

          3  International Fire Code, prescribes safeguards form

          4  the hazard of the fire and explosion arising from

          5  the storage, handling or public welfare in the

          6  occupancy or operation of structures and premises.

          7  Our new Fire Code is far more comprehensive and up-

          8  to- date than our previous fire prevention

          9  provisions were.  Specifically, significant

         10  improvements have been achieved in the storage and

         11  use of hazardous materials, maintenance, and fire

         12  safety requirements for specialized operations and

         13  occupancies, and provision of building and property

         14  features to support the efforts and safety of the

         15  fire surface.  In addition, by utilizing the

         16  International Codes as our base, we successfully

         17  updated over 1,200 technical standards published by

         18  80 standards writing organizations to their current

         19  edition.

         20                 The Department of State applauds the

         21  City Council for recognizing the need to maintain a

         22  modern and effective Fire Prevention Code.  As you

         23  contemplate changes for the future of this great

         24  City, we encourage you to consider the advantages of

         25  adopting the International Fire Code for the benefit
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          2  and safety of all New Yorkers, and offer our

          3  assistance to the City Council and the Fire

          4  Department of New York to successfully accomplish

          5  your goals.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to

          8  give a special thanks to you, Mr. Piester, for

          9  coming and testifying here today. We have had a

         10  number of questions with respect to the State law

         11  versus the City's Fire Code, and I just wanted to

         12  raise one with you.  It is my understanding that the

         13  State law, New York City is only permitted to have

         14  its own Fire Code and is not governed by the State

         15  Fire Code if New York City's Fire Code is stricter

         16  than the State Fire Code.

         17                 We have heard from Fire Safety

         18  experts that at least some portion of the State's

         19  Fire Codes are stricter than the City's Fire Code.

         20  Do you have an opinion on this matter?

         21                 MR. PIESTER:  I do not have an

         22  opinion on the matter, but I can share with you the

         23  experience that we have found with updating our Fire

         24  Prevention Code.  The International Fire Code, which

         25  we recently adopted, we have found to be far more
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          2  comprehensive than our previous fire prevention

          3  provisions.  And one of the areas that our new Fire

          4  Code addresses in a more comprehensive matter is the

          5  use in the storage of hazardous materials.

          6                 Our Fire organizations around the

          7  State of New York had indicated to the Department of

          8  State on many occasions that our Code needed to be

          9  improved and updated, specifically in the area of

         10  hazardous materials using storage.  And we undertook

         11  a review of the International Fire Code, we found

         12  that its provisions provided a safety blanket that

         13  we found in our, and our Code Council felt was

         14  acceptable and desirable for the State to implement.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  It is my

         16  understanding that the State has the authority to

         17  really determine whether, in fact, the City's Fire

         18  Code is stricter by law.  Based on testimony we have

         19  heard here today, do you believe that the State

         20  would do a review of currently where we stand with

         21  our Fire Code as it relates to the Code that has

         22  been adopted at the State level?

         23                 MR. PIESTER:  Your first statement is

         24  correct.  The State Fire Prevention and Building

         25  Code Council has the authority to periodically
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          2  review provisions in the City of New York relating

          3  to building construction and fire prevention to

          4  ensure that those standards are at least as

          5  restrictive as the provisions of the Uniformed Fire

          6  Prevention and Building Code.  That authority comes

          7  under article 18 of the New York State Executive

          8  Law.

          9                 The Code Council is a body, which the

         10  Department of State serves as Secretariat to.  We do

         11  not represent the interest of the Code Council, but

         12  we do serve as technical and administrative staff to

         13  the Code Council.  There have been no discussions or

         14  active movements by our Code Council to conduct an

         15  analysis of New York City's provisions as related to

         16  our new Uniformed Code provisions.  But I will be

         17  happy to relay any comments or suggestions by this

         18  Committee to our Code Council for their discussion

         19  and consideration.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, we

         21  really appreciate that.  We are very concerned here

         22  as you can tell by the tenor of our discussion this

         23  morning.

         24                 I wanted to ask if you have this

         25  knowledge, one, how long it took the State to
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          2  conform with or establish the International Code,

          3  and approximately, how much resource was dedicated

          4  to it?  If you have a dollar figure that is fine, if

          5  not, man- hours, can you give us a sense, because we

          6  are kind of left in the dark.  I did not get a clear

          7  indication from our Department of whether they have

          8  been able to get any tangible understanding of what

          9  the undertaking actually consists of.

         10                 MR. PIESTER:  As I mentioned in my

         11  testimony, we began this initiative to rewrite our

         12  Building Code in 1999 through the Governor's

         13  directive.  And the review and rule- making

         14  procedures that we followed to implement the Code

         15  were completed on January 1st, 2003.  So that is

         16  approximately a little bit less than three and a

         17  half years.

         18                 We adopted eight of the International

         19  Code, that is essentially the entire family of

         20  International Codes, and in doing so, established

         21  separate, technical subcommittees to review each of

         22  those codes to ensure that the provisions of those

         23  codes would best serve the interest of New York

         24  State.  We also had to make technical changes to

         25  conform with our existing regulatory framework and
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          2  statutory provisions that we had to follow through

          3  our Building Code.

          4                 The technical subcommittees that were

          5  established by our Code Council met over the course

          6  of approximately one- year and presented

          7  recommendations to our Code Council at the end of

          8  2000. And our Code Council then reviewed those

          9  recommendations and initiated a rule- making

         10  proposal in the middle of 2001.

         11                 The rule- making proposal, the rule-

         12  making process, excused me, was completed in the

         13  middle of 2002, and we implemented formally, January

         14  1st, 2003.

         15                 The technical subcommittees that I

         16  referred to were comprised of approximately 100

         17  individuals representing virtually all of the

         18  organizations throughout the State of New York that

         19  had an active interest in our Building Code Reform

         20  Initiative.  And involved literally thousands of

         21  hours of review, analysis, and preparation of

         22  documents.

         23                 I could not give you a dollar figure

         24  to go with that, but I can tell you it was an

         25  exhausting and comprehensive process.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  As well, it

          3  should be, and I can appreciate the structure that

          4  you have laid out to give us at least a realistic

          5  scope of what we are talking about here.

          6                 Do any of colleagues have any

          7  questions or comments at this time?  Council Member

          8  Quinn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  In the earlier

         10  testimony the Fire Department indicated that,

         11  really, the main thing that is standing in their way

         12  of speeding up and updating the Fire Code is

         13  finances of the Department.

         14                 Has the Department of State come

         15  across, heard that from other counties or

         16  municipalities that their budget constraints make it

         17  impossible for them to updated their Fire Code, and

         18  does the State have any grants or funding

         19  initiatives to help municipalities, counties, et

         20  cetera, update their Fire Code when it is their

         21  finances that is what is preventing that?

         22                 MR. PIESTER:  I have not had specific

         23  conversations or correspondence with other

         24  municipalities regarding financial concerns or

         25  constraints.  However, the Department of State does,
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          2  part of our mission within my division is to provide

          3  assistance to local governments to effectively

          4  enforce the provision of the Uniformed Code.  And

          5  our Department has also been monitoring closely the

          6  Building Code, the Mayor's Code Commission, and its

          7  technical subcommittees, and have been providing

          8  assistance to those committees as the committees

          9  have requested.

         10                 We would be happy to provide

         11  technical assistance the ability that we have

         12  resources to the City of New York to undertake an

         13  initiative to review your Fire Prevention Code.

         14  When our technical subcommittees reviewed the 2000

         15  International Fire Code, we, as I said, conducted

         16  analysis of that document and had volumes of

         17  information that we would be happy to share with the

         18  City, if you felt that it would be beneficial to

         19  your ongoing review efforts.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Yes, I think we

         21  would very much appreciate that.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         23  Council Member Quinn.  And I would like to thank

         24  you, Mr. Piester, for again, taking time from your

         25  busy schedule and giving us this context in which we
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          2  can operate, and, you know, use the basis of your

          3  knowledge to help us as we encourage our FDNY to do

          4  what needs to be done.  I want to thank you for

          5  coming.

          6                 MR. PIESTER:  Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me just

          8  state that this issue of updating our Fire Code, as

          9  you can tell, has really been an ongoing challenge

         10  for the City of New York.  It is by no means the

         11  only under the purview of this particular

         12  Administration. However, I think we need to

         13  acknowledge that we are in totally different times

         14  now, the whole paradigm of safety and fire and

         15  explosives and chemicals is driven home by the times

         16  that we live in.  And so, you know, we have to draw

         17  the line in the sand somewhere.  We are now in the

         18  21st Century, and we need a 21st Century Code to

         19  deal with 21st Century issues.

         20                 Having said that, let me call our

         21  next panel for their testimony.  I would like to

         22  call Mr. Gerald Poje, excused me, Doctor Gerald Poje

         23  of the US Chemical Safety Board; Mr. Stephen Selk of

         24  the US Chemical Safety and Hazard Investigation

         25  Board; Glenn Corbett of John Jay College; and Jim
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          2  Tidwell of the International Code Council.

          3                 I would like to thank you gentlemen

          4  for taking the time from your busy schedule to

          5  address us here today, and ask that you state your

          6  name and affiliation before you commence your

          7  testimony.  We will start with Dr. Poje.

          8                 DR. POJE:  I am Doctor Gerald Poje, a

          9  board member of the US Chemical Safety and Hazard

         10  Investigation Board.'

         11                 Good morning, Chairman and members of

         12  the Committee, and guests of the Committee.  Thank

         13  you for inviting us to testify once again on the

         14  needs to modernize the New York City Fire Prevention

         15  Code.  With me today is Mr. Stephen Selk, a

         16  professional engineer and CSB lead investigator.

         17                 As a native New Yorker, it is a

         18  pleasure to be back here this morning.  I was born

         19  in Brooklyn, raised in Staten Island and educated

         20  nearby at NYU.  My beloved Uncle Huey spent his life

         21  here as a City firefighter.

         22                 Reforming New York City's Fire Code

         23  will help prevent serious accidents involving

         24  hazardous materials, and it will save lives and

         25  property.  On behalf of the Chemical Safety Board I
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          2  comment the Committee for taking a lead on this

          3  important issue.

          4                 The bill before you represents a

          5  landmark first step towards a modern Fire Code for

          6  this great city.  But the clock is ticking for New

          7  Yorkers' safety, and the need for an updated Fire

          8  Code is clear.  I urge the Council and Mayor to move

          9  forward swiftly with the reform of the City's Fire

         10  Code.

         11                 Now the Chemical Safety Board is an

         12  independent, federal investigative agency

         13  established by Congress in 1990.  We determine the

         14  root causes of serious chemical accidents and make

         15  safety recommendations to government, industry, and

         16  other bodies. Board investigations are unique and

         17  that we look not only at rules' violations, but also

         18  at the overall adequacy of regulations, standards,

         19  inspections and oversight.

         20                 The Board recently concluded an 18-

         21  month investigation of the chemical explosion last

         22  year at a sign making company in Chelsea.  On

         23  September 30th, 2003 we issued a series of related

         24  safety recommendations to the City of New York.  The

         25  full Board Investigation Report and a Summary
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          2  Digester, available at our Web site www.CSB.gov.

          3  Our investigation determined that the Chelsea

          4  explosion resulted from the improperly supervised

          5  mixing of unlabeled, unidentified hazardous waste in

          6  the basement of a mixed use commercial building.

          7  The explosion heavily damaged the building on West

          8  19th Street, and caused, at least, 36 injuries to

          9  building occupants, bystanders, and responding

         10  firefighters.

         11                 In the course of the investigation,

         12  we learned that the City's Fire Prevention Code

         13  dates from 1918 and has only been amended in a

         14  piecemeal fashion over the succeeding 85 years.  As

         15  a result, the Code lacks many of the present day

         16  hazardous material controls that are included in

         17  modern model fire codes such as the National Fire

         18  Protection Association Code and in the International

         19  Fire Code.  Those controls, had they been in place

         20  and enforced in New York City last year, would

         21  likely have prevented the building explosion in

         22  Chelsea.

         23                 The Board, therefore, has recommended

         24  five specific reforms to the City Fire Code at a

         25  minimum.  The City should amend the code to require
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          2  that:

          3                 All hazardous materials are

          4  identified and labeled.

          5                 Permit applications include a

          6  hazardous materials management plan and inventory

          7  statement.

          8                 Material safety data sheets are made

          9  available and accessible to the workforce.

         10                 That workers are trained on safe

         11  chemical handling.            And that incompatible

         12  chemicals are adequately separated.

         13                 All five of these provisions are

         14  already part of model fire codes.  Additional

         15  advantage of the model codes is that there are

         16  expert code councils that keep the codes up- to-

         17  date, relieving individual jurisdictions of an

         18  ongoing administrative and technical burden.

         19                 With New York City now poised to

         20  accept the International Building Code, adopting a

         21  corresponding model Fire Code would help ensure

         22  efficient code administration citywide.  A model

         23  Fire Code would promote safe, efficient, and modern

         24  businesses.  Accordingly, we believe the City should

         25  seriously weigh the advantages of adopting a model
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          2  code compared to attempting further revisions in a

          3  piecemeal fashion of the existing 1918 Code.

          4                 The fire permitting an inspection

          5  process offers an important opportunity for

          6  preventing major accidents.  As the Board learned at

          7  the public hearing in April 2003, New York City Fire

          8  inspectors conducted about 100,000 hazardous

          9  material inspections every year.  For many small

         10  businesses, these are the only regular, government,

         11  safety inspections they will ever receive.  Indeed,

         12  the Chelsea sign making company had been visited

         13  many times by City fire inspectors.  But the

         14  deficient handling of hazardous chemicals was never

         15  detected or corrected.  Fire inspectors need to have

         16  full information about hazardous materials that are

         17  present at permitted establishments and need to be

         18  armed with a full set of modern, enforceable, Fire

         19  Code provisions to ensure the safe handling of those

         20  materials.

         21                 Madam Chairman, after the Chelsea

         22  building explosion, we know that hazardous material

         23  management can be one risky venture in New York.

         24  The Committee has a significant window of

         25  opportunity to make the City safer, and I urge you
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          2  to do so.

          3                 Thank you again for inviting us to

          4  testify, and we will be pleased to answer your

          5  questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We will hear

          7  from our panel before we get into questioning, so,

          8  Mr. Jim Tidwell.

          9                 MR. TIDWELL:  Thank you.  My name is

         10  Jim Tidwell. I am the National Director for Fire

         11  Service Activities for the International Code

         12  Council.  I want to say thank you for allowing us to

         13  be here this morning.

         14                 I will tell you a little bit about

         15  our company, we are a not- for- profit corporation,

         16  over 50,000 members.  We are a public safety

         17  organization dedicated to reducing the burden on

         18  government.  Now the way we reduce the burden on

         19  government is by developing and producing a

         20  comprehensive set of regulations for the built

         21  environment.  These regulations are suitable for

         22  adoption as statutes.

         23                 But I think it is important to also

         24  say that the code books, or the regulations

         25  themselves, are only a start.  We also offer a full
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          2  range of support service, this includes training on

          3  the myriad of the requirements in the code itself,

          4  as well as means to implement and enforce the code.

          5  We have an evaluation service from materials and

          6  products out there, so that if they carry the ICC

          7  evaluation services stamp, then the inspectors know

          8  that that product or material does meet the

          9  criterion in the code.

         10                 We certify, we are one of the few

         11  people, or few companies that certify independent

         12  laboratories.  There are many provisions in most

         13  codes that require products and materials to be

         14  tested by a third- party lab.  We have that

         15  certification service, or offer that certification

         16  service.  And then we produce a myriad of supporting

         17  documents and training programs, and handbooks, and

         18  those kinds of thing to assist people who have to

         19  actually have to use these document in plan review

         20  and inspections.

         21                 If the City of New York chooses to

         22  use the International Fire Code as a basis for the

         23  New York City Fire Code in the future, the ICC is

         24  prepared to discuss with the City of New York our

         25  support services and how we can assist and support
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          2  the Fire Department and the City in the

          3  implementation of the Code.

          4                 Currently, the International Codes,

          5  or one of the International Codes are used at either

          6  a Statewide, on a Statewide basis, or at a local

          7  basis, in over 40 states in the United States. There

          8  was a federal study a few years ago that indicated

          9  in excess of 90 percent of the population in the

         10  United States is being regulated by either the

         11  International Code or one of the legacy codes that

         12  were the forerunners of the International Codes.  I

         13  believe that if New York City adopts the

         14  International Codes or utilizes the International

         15  Codes that number will go up substantially.

         16                 In closing, just understand the ICC

         17  is very interested in assisting the Fire Department

         18  and the City in the process of adopting and

         19  implementing the codes.  And we are ready to help

         20  any way we can.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. CORBETT:  Hello, Chairwoman

         23  Clarke, members of the Fire and Criminal Justice

         24  Committee.  My name is Glenn Corbett. I am Professor

         25  of Fire Science at John Jay College here in New
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          2  York.

          3                 Rather than talk about my written

          4  testimony, which is basically what had I given at

          5  our last meeting, similar conditions, I would like

          6  to discuss a few points that came up during the

          7  discussion today to perhaps give you my take on some

          8  of these situations.

          9                 There was a question that came up

         10  earlier about the utilization or the adoption of the

         11  Building Code and the relationship to the Fire Code.

         12    I can tell you that if the City of New York were

         13  to adopt the model Fire Code, excuse me, were to

         14  adopt the International Building Code, that if they

         15  do not adopt the Fire Code with it, it is going to

         16  create some tremendous enforcement problems for the

         17  City.  They are definitely hand- shake type

         18  documents, they are intermingled.  There are

         19  provisions throughout the Building Code, which refer

         20  people to the Fire Code. So we have a tremendous

         21  opportunity to move forward on this right now and we

         22  need to do that.

         23                 That said, you know, I think it is

         24  totally inappropriate to attempt to fix, to put

         25  Band- Aids on a Model- T, we need to put that in the
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          2  used car lot, get ourselves a new Cadillac that we

          3  can then attach to with the New York City provisions

          4  that we would like to have, those kinds of things.

          5  It is, I am not even sure why we are talking about

          6  this, this is such a, at least to me, a clear cut

          7  issue.

          8                 One of the issues with the model

          9  codes also, is that, and as Jim Tidwell mentioned

         10  that there is a constant updating of these model

         11  codes at the national level.  There is a very

         12  specific cycle in which they move through the

         13  process.  So it takes a tremendous burden off the

         14  local jurisdictions, cities, states, to have to

         15  constantly go back and update, make tremendous

         16  changes.

         17                 I do sit on the State Fire Code

         18  Council of New Jersey, and we do have a standing

         19  committee, or actually the council itself, that

         20  meets every two months.  We look at provisions that

         21  we feel are emerging that have not even gotten to

         22  the ICC yet.             I mention one of them, I

         23  think is a good example, at the last hearing with

         24  regard to overnight stays of young children in

         25  buildings that are not typically associated with
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          2  residential occupancies.  These are situations where

          3  children stay overnight in a gymboree type situation

          4  or a museum, or we have had kids staying in the USS

          5  New Jersey, and the Ling Submarine in Hackensack,

          6  all different places that are not typically

          7  associated with a sleeping type arrangement, and

          8  would present tremendous fire safety and life safety

          9  issues for these children, if a fire were to break

         10  out.  And so we went ahead and enacted regulations

         11  ahead of the model codes. You will not find these

         12  provisions, and Jersey has had some bad experiences

         13  with bad fires with regard to haunted houses, for

         14  example, Great Adventure several years ago, and New

         15  Jersey did adopt regulations that dealt with these

         16  types of facilities, and would later, the model

         17  codes, themselves, actually adopted them.

         18                 Although again, the model codes do

         19  provide this constant update.  My recommendation

         20  would be that we would have a standing committee

         21  that would keep a close eye on what is going on, and

         22  if as things emerge here locally within the City

         23  that may be unique to New York that they can respond

         24  very quickly to make those changes.

         25                 The issue of training was brought up,
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          2  since we would be going to a brand new code that is

          3  structured much differently from New York City's

          4  existing codes, as well as the numerous rules, the

          5  City rules that are associated with that document,

          6  that the opportunity, that the City take that

          7  opportunity to talk to the International Code

          8  Council about providing training, trainers to come

          9  in and perhaps to train the trainer type of program

         10  in which the ICC people would not have to train

         11  every individual fire inspector, but would provide

         12  training to a core group of people, and then those

         13  people can turn around and then move on.

         14                 So I can tell you that, you know,

         15  once the code is adopted we would not necessarily

         16  have to go through this long, torturous process

         17  again.  The fact that you are at this line in the

         18  sand that you have drawn, Chairwoman Clarke, this

         19  would take some time to adopt the code, it would

         20  probably take, you know, at least a year, a year and

         21  a half, two years, to move through this whole

         22  process.  But once that has been done, you can kind

         23  of, to some extent, fall back in an easier situation

         24  like we are in New Jersey where we are looking at

         25  adopting the 2003 International Fire Code. But the
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          2  amount of work that is involved is much less, the

          3  amount of people involved is much less, because we

          4  already have most of the provisions there existing.

          5  It is really a situation just going back and making

          6  those specific areas where the codes have been

          7  changed in the last few years, nationally, to make

          8  those kind of changes.

          9                 So, and again, I want to, I think

         10  Councilwoman Quinn may have mentioned that, if you

         11  were to run this a change over to a new model Fire

         12  Code from years from now, you would have lost an

         13  opportunity in terms of cost savings to try to do at

         14  this at the same time.

         15                 So with that said, again, I would

         16  rather than talk about my written testimony, I would

         17  rather just bounce off some of those things that

         18  came up.  I would suggest that we do not walk to a

         19  new Fire Code, we run to a new model Fire Code,

         20  because we really desperately need it.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Mr. Selk, did

         23  you want to make some comment?

         24                 MR. SELK:  I do not have a prepared

         25  statement, Madam Chair.  However, I am prepared to
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          2  respond to any questions that you might pose to me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, I want to

          4  thank you gentlemen for your testimony this morning.

          5    I have a few questions that I would like to ask.

          6  One I would like to ask Mr. Tidwell, have you had

          7  any discussions, or has there been any outreach from

          8  the FDNY to utilize your expertise?

          9                 MR. TIDWELL:  I have not personally

         10  had discussions with FDNY, very honestly, I only

         11  heard about this hearing, well very recently.  I

         12  know that other members of our staff have been

         13  working with the City of New York and staff members

         14  of the City of New York in putting together the

         15  Building Code side.  And I would assume, as

         16  dangerous as that is, that our staffs have discussed

         17  Fire Code adoptions, but I am not personally aware

         18  of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  And can

         20  you explain what type of problems could arise if the

         21  City of New York adopt the International Building

         22  Code without adopting the International Fire Code at

         23  the same time?

         24                 MR. TIDWELL:  Well the problems are,

         25  the basic problem is in lack of compatibility.  My
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          2  background is in the Fire Department, I spent 30

          3  years in a Municipal Fire Department, about almost

          4  15 of those years in fire prevention.  So, while I

          5  never worked for a city the size of New York, I

          6  think the problems are similar, only magnified in a

          7  city this size.

          8                 And what you will find is that

          9  buildings constructed to one code, if you do not

         10  have a companion maintenance code, you can very

         11  easily wind up with conflicting provisions, or

         12  sometimes provisions that the Fire Code or the

         13  Maintenance Code will not address.  And there are

         14  some very specific examples, depending on what the

         15  two codes say.  But the International Building Code

         16  has dozens of references to the International Fire

         17  Code, where the code provisions need to be adopted

         18  by the City of New York, if you want the full

         19  benefit of the documents.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  To anyone on the

         21  panel, can you explain the role of municipalities in

         22  regulating hazardous waste? I am asking because one

         23  often hears about the federal regulation of these

         24  substances, and one does not often hear of the

         25  localities' role in the regulation.  Is there a role
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          2  for municipalities?

          3                 MR. SELK:  The Board, when we

          4  investigated the Caltech incident had to examine the

          5  hazardous waste aspects of this incident.  The

          6  facility at Caltech was compounding waste in a

          7  barrel at the middle of the day.  The last chemical

          8  that they put into the barrel was a non- flammable,

          9  non- combustible chemical, but a very reactive

         10  chemical.  One that Councilwoman Quinn, I think, was

         11  getting at when we talked about the possibility of a

         12  piecemeal approach here.  But that facility was

         13  governed by the transfer of responsibilities under

         14  the Resource Conservation Recovery Act by the US

         15  Environmental Protection Agency to the State of New

         16  York.

         17                 The State of New York has assigned

         18  staff, in this case, I believe there were two

         19  inspectors assigned to the Region II area to conduct

         20  its audits of hazardous, large quantity generators

         21  of hazardous waste.  They never got to the Caltech

         22  facility.

         23                 I am not aware of all of the

         24  jurisdictional responsibilities that have been

         25  assigned, but traditionally responsibility for the
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          2  Resource Conservation Recovery Act, Federal Law

          3  governing hazardous waste has been delegated from

          4  the Federal Government to states that are willing to

          5  accept the program, and I am not familiar with any

          6  jurisdictional aspects that have proceeded even

          7  further to municipalities.

          8                 MR. TIDWELL:  Madam Chairman, if I

          9  might, the federal regulations are, can be spoken to

         10  by the gentlemen to my right.  Municipal regulations

         11  in municipalities in states that have adopted the

         12  International Fire Code, it is typically the

         13  municipalities that enforces those hazardous

         14  material regulations.

         15                 Probably the reason that these

         16  regulations are in the Fire Code is because most

         17  Fire Departments, including the City of New York,

         18  operate hazardous material teams.  And while it is a

         19  public safety risk, it is also a firefighter safety

         20  issue.

         21                 So the regulations that you will find

         22  in the International Fire Code had there beginning

         23  in 1988 in the Uniformed Fire Code, which was the

         24  one of the forerunners of the International Code.

         25  They were developed by a very diverse group of
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          2  industry and regulatory officials over a period of

          3  about three years, and then they have been updated

          4  and refined ever since.

          5                 So what you are going to find in the

          6  International Fire Code is a set of regulations that

          7  are intended for enforcement at a local level.

          8                 DR. POJE:  And just to reiterate, I

          9  think it is very important to recognize the

         10  terminology, "hazardous materials," which would

         11  cover the material whether it was being used as a

         12  process aid, or in the manufacturing operations, or

         13  whether it was being disposed of as waste, it is

         14  still a hazardous material, and it is a far better

         15  generic term for dealing with dangerous chemicals.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We heard today

         17  during testimony that the way that the FDNY deals

         18  with, you know, specific antiquities in the code is

         19  to develop rules along the way, rules and

         20  regulations.

         21                 Would you say that this can be an

         22  effective way of doing business, for lack of a

         23  better term?  You know it just seems to me that

         24  there are some challenges, but I would like to hear

         25  based on your expertise, you know, some of the
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          2  scenarios that come out of that rule making as you

          3  go along.

          4                 MR. SELK:  If I may try to field your

          5  question, Madam Chair, with a partly speculative

          6  answer.  But having heard the testimony today, I

          7  cannot but wonder if the resource issue is not

          8  partly related to the Fire Department's desire to

          9  write its own rules, rather than to take advantage

         10  of the already, well written rules of various

         11  organizations in the model codes.

         12                 DR. POJE:  And if I could chime in,

         13  while I appreciate the analysis that you and your

         14  Council has done to demonstrate the age of much of

         15  the codes and provisions.  I think there is also one

         16  very important aspect to recognize, which is the

         17  omissions.  It is not just a matter of amending what

         18  was already there.  It is to recognize the great

         19  growth of chemical usage from our vantage point and

         20  other technological aspects as mentioned by Mr.

         21  Corbett, that have to be addressed.  And if you are

         22  only amending what is antiquated in the code, you

         23  may be missing an enormous portion of new provisions

         24  that need to reflect our modern usage of materials

         25  and structures and technologies.  So it is a larger
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          2  problem than the way you have characterized it, even

          3  though I appreciate your characterization of the

          4  antiquated nature and slow to revise schedule in the

          5  current code.

          6                 MR. CORBETT:  Yes, Chairwoman, I

          7  think it is an efficient way of dealing with

          8  problems, it certainly is very, it is typically very

          9  reactive.  So be on the proactive side of trying to

         10  get ahead of the problem rather than behind it by

         11  going through rule- making processes, just in my

         12  opinion, not the way to go.

         13                 Not only that, but there is also,

         14  there is this underlying problem with the way the

         15  City's fire regulations are put on the books, so-

         16  to- say, is that there are multiple places for

         17  people to find these regulations.  There is not one

         18  single document that people can go to, to find this

         19  stuff.  And you know, I have learned, I have spent

         20  time in Jim's area in Texas for several years, and I

         21  have learned a long time ago that there is a direct

         22  correlation between the ease of enforcement of a

         23  code and compliance with a code, and its complexity

         24  and places where you find regulations.  The more

         25  difficult you make it for people to comply, they
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          2  less likely they are.

          3                 And so if you were to have a single

          4  model Fire Code with those local amendments that the

          5  City of New York deems necessary, I think, just from

          6  an efficiency standpoint of the people who are

          7  having the code enforced upon them, it makes their

          8  life a lot easier as well.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  The issue of

         11  cost has been, I guess, the main rationale that we

         12  are dealing with here.  And I think that, again, my

         13  colleagues have been able to sort of look at what

         14  the cost has been, and can be with respect to a

         15  delay.  And in particularly in light of the fact

         16  that we are in the process of adopting the

         17  International Building Code, or at least working

         18  towards some similar type of code.

         19                 What can you say about the cost

         20  factor with respect to moving forward at this

         21  particular time with the Fire Code now and in the

         22  future?

         23                 MR. CORBETT:  Chairwoman Clarke, if I

         24  could just make a few comments on that.  If you look

         25  at a comparison with the City's Building Code Task

                                                            93

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Force and the adoption thereof, the majority of

          3  people that serve on those 13 committees are

          4  volunteers.  I am one of them, I do not get paid to

          5  come to meetings, they do not pay my fee to come

          6  from Northwest Bergen County, New Jersey, to meet

          7  monthly or bi- monthly on these things. So yes,

          8  there is definitely a cost involved, there is staff

          9  time, there is, literally, the ability of the Fire

         10  Department to take people from somewhere else and

         11  put them in a position of supporting that study

         12  process.

         13                 I can tell you that in New Jersey

         14  that there is relatively few people, at this point,

         15  involved directly in the change over to what we are

         16  looking, at least, in the Fire Code of the 2003

         17  Edition.  Most of the people that are involved are

         18  all volunteers, and people give there time to do

         19  that.  There is, I would say, probably directly

         20  involved, certainly less than a dozen, perhaps a

         21  half of dozen staff people that are directly

         22  involved at this point.  So it would be there time,

         23  we have people dedicated in Jersey that their job is

         24  the Fire Code basically, and that is their whole

         25  thing.
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          2                 So, I cannot, unless you want to

          3  really create this gigantic process of, you know,

          4  and structure, I do not see why it has to be that

          5  expensive to do this.  It is not free, but it is

          6  also you are relying on a lot of people that are

          7  offering their work for free basically on these

          8  processes.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 DR. POJE:  If I could just chime in,

         11  I think you identified, and your fellow Council

         12  members have also identified the enormous cost that

         13  are embedded in preserving a system that is very

         14  antiquated.  We saw in the Caltech incident it was

         15  not just the impact on the people on the street that

         16  day, but it was the impact upon multitudes of

         17  businesses in that very mixed- use building.  It was

         18  traffic on that street that was diminished, and

         19  therefore, reduced the services that could have been

         20  provided by the businesses that are also on the

         21  street.

         22                 I do not think we do a terribly good

         23  job of costing the costs of the incident.  And while

         24  we do want to be assured that we have people cable

         25  of exacting rescue in an emergency situation, to
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          2  suffer our ability right now, to improve, to give

          3  the ounce of prevention just because we see the

          4  pounds of cure that are lying before us is a

          5  dangerously foolish exercise, in my estimation.

          6                 And the Chemical Safety Board has had

          7  a history of dealing with jurisdictions and with

          8  businesses that have failed to exercise the ounce of

          9  prevention and paid enormously with the pounds of

         10  cure, and have had enormous economic damage to their

         11  communities.  And I think this is a primary example

         12  of where there efficiencies to be had from the

         13  ongoing work in the Building Code. I think the

         14  example that has to be embedded in people's minds is

         15  that these are not codes that are joined at the hip,

         16  and somehow we can separate them easily.  These are

         17  joined at the head, and to seemingly try to extract

         18  those codes from each other only renders them

         19  ineffectual and potentially damaged for what is

         20  their intended purpose.

         21                 And, you know, it does require us to

         22  figure out how to find the resources to get this job

         23  done.  I think the individuals before you, I have

         24  empathy for them from the Fire Department, they are

         25  not in control of the purse strings and cannot
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          2  commit resources that are not under their command.

          3  But I think we all have to do our job, and I pledge

          4  the services of the Chemical Safety Board to make it

          5  clear how valuable it will be to act expeditiously

          6  right now.  It may actually do, as you surmised,

          7  reduce the future operations' budgets, if we are

          8  inherently preventative in our approach.  We have

          9  got to raise our voices for primary prevention.

         10                 MR. SELK:  Madam Chair, investigators

         11  for the Board had the opportunity to respond to a

         12  wide array of fires and explosions.  And currently

         13  the Board is investigating an explosion at a

         14  facility in North Carolina, a dust explosion.  And

         15  it is our observation that the emergency response

         16  costs to the local Fire Department for that single

         17  incident ran into the hundreds of thousands of

         18  dollars.  So while the cost of getting this

         19  improvement in prevention completed, might be

         20  measured in a few million dollars.  The cost of

         21  incidents, as you pointed out in your comments

         22  earlier, can be very large, indeed.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Chief Dawe made

         24  mention of one of the, I guess, challenges that they

         25  are facing right now in terms of costing out the
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          2  Building Commission, the Building Code Commission,

          3  he raised something about copyright infringements or

          4  something of that nature.  Do any of you know what

          5  he is talking about?

          6                 MR. TIDWELL:  Not to go into great

          7  detail, but suffice it to say that the ICC and the

          8  City of New York are currently in discussions

          9  regarding copyright issues.  We have, this comes up

         10  occasionally, I would almost say rarely, and it

         11  depends upon how the codes are implemented in a

         12  particular jurisdiction. We have never failed to

         13  resolve all of the copyright issues with a customer

         14  jurisdiction.  So I do not anticipate that that is

         15  going to be a substantive problem.

         16                 DR. POJE:  And as I understood it - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Madam Chair,

         18  can I just ask, we are actually talking, I hate to

         19  interrupt, we are actually talking about like

         20  copyright of the code?

         21                 MR. TIDWELL:  Yes, all of the

         22  documents are copyright.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  It is

         24  interesting, I never heard that before as it relates

         25  to other codes or stuff like that, so that is
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          2  interesting.  Okay.

          3                 DR. POJE:  But I also would raise the

          4  logic of putting that issue as a primary issue as

          5  opposed to leaving it as a secondary issue.  There,

          6  again, I would see there is great efficiency to be

          7  had by the grappling with that issue in the Building

          8  Code Reformation right now, and not delaying action

          9  on the substance, the very provisions that we are

         10  arguing for on the hazardous material site, and

         11  other provisions raised by others. Those are matters

         12  that are not, do not demand that we wait until that

         13  question is resolved before taking action.  That is

         14  not logical.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Chris, did you

         16  have any?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, yes, I

         19  want to thank you gentlemen for bringing, again,

         20  your perspective, very valuable perspective to this

         21  discussion.  And we look forward to continue working

         22  with you, reaching out to you as we continue to

         23  apply pressure to the Administration.  Perhaps, even

         24  having to go forward with this legislation to make

         25  sure that we get this thing done. Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 We have one final person for

          4  testimony today, Mr. Angelo J. Grima.  Is Mr. Grima

          5  here?  Okay, from BOMA New York, the Building Owners

          6  and Managers Association, very good.  Thank you for

          7  joining us this afternoon, and just state your name

          8  and affiliation.

          9                 MR. GRIMA:  Good afternoon, Madam

         10  Chair.  My name is Angelo J. Grima.  I am

         11  representing the Building Owners and Managers

         12  Association of New York City.  I am here today to

         13  make a statement on behalf of review and adoption of

         14  a new Fire Code for the City of New York.  BOMA New

         15  York is fully behind it, as we are currently working

         16  with the Buildings Department and their efforts in

         17  adopting the International Building Code to New York

         18  City.

         19                 We feel that with the uniformity of

         20  the code along with the review every three years,

         21  the City will benefit and the building industry will

         22  benefit going forward with the latest in technology

         23  and safety for all.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me ask you
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          2  something, and from your perspective, if the City

          3  continues to delay in really tackling this issue of

          4  adopting an International Fire Code, as you proceed

          5  through the process of establishing the

          6  International Building Code, do you foresee any real

          7  challenges for the Building Management Industry in

          8  being able to adapt to that delay?  In other words,

          9  do you see a cost or a concern coming from that?

         10                 MR. GRIMA:  We definitely do.  We see

         11  both, it is a cost issue along with a delay in

         12  getting the necessary approvals to move forward on

         13  various projects.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         15  much, and thank you for bringing your perspective to

         16  the table today, we appreciate that.

         17                 MR. GRIMA:  Thank you very much,

         18  Madam Chair, Council members.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Having said

         20  that, I want to thank everyone for attending this

         21  hearing today, it has been quite informative.  And

         22  this hearing is now adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)
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